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The Cancer Council Victoria (‘the
Cancer Council’), established by
the Cancer Act 1936 (Vic) as the
Anti-Cancer Council of Victoria,
is a volunteer-assisted charitable
body whose core business is
cancer control. It conducts and
supports research, delivers statewide
support and prevention programs,
and is a strong advocate for reducing
the physical and emotional burden of
cancer.
The Cancer Council is a member
of The Cancer Council Australia (formerly the Australian Cancer Society),
which acts as a federation of state
interests in the control of cancer.
The powers of the Cancer Council, as
detailed in Section 5 (2) (a)–(e) of the
Cancer Act, include:
• application of capital and income
of the funds and property of the
Cancer Council towards its goals
• acquisition of money by means
of grants, subscriptions, gifts,
bequests or otherwise, and investment of those funds
• ownership of land, securities and
other property
• borrowing of money (with the
consent of the State Treasurer)
• application for and possession of
property rights such as patents,
copyrights, trademarks and registered designs
• assignment or granting of licences
in respect of those industrial
property rights and entering into
agreements and arrangements for
their commercial exploitation
• execution of any special trusts in
connection with the money and
properties obtained and held affiliation or association with any other
body that has similar objects.

goals form part
of the Cancer
Council’s
Strategic Plan.

I. Reduce the impact of cancer
in the community by:
• promoting environments and
behaviours that facilitate cancer
prevention and control
• supporting evidence-based screening to detect cancer early
• promoting the use of evidencebased treatment and care
• improving patients’, carers’ and
long-term survivors’ quality of life
through information, services and
support
• effectively communicating to all
Victorians, whatever their culture,
language, location or economic
situation.
II. Maintain a highly capable
organisation by:
• generating appropriate funding
• delivering efficient services to support programs
• continually improving efficiency
and effectiveness
• sustaining a culture of integrity
• nurturing the people who can do
the job.
III. Build the knowledge base
for cancer control by:
• supporting basic and applied research, evaluation and monitoring
that can advance cancer control
• effectively disseminating the
knowledge we have about cancer
control

• providing foundations for policy
and practice by developing highly
credible, authoritative position
statements, and policy and program proposals.

IV. Advocate effectively for
cancer control by:
• positioning the Council strategically
• improving stakeholder management and communication
• building capacity in organisations
external to the Cancer Council
that can enhance cancer control
throughout Victoria and beyond.

The organisation
Our organisation chart can be found
on the Cancer Council website
(www.cancervic.org.au) and in our
Annual Review.

Accountability
The Cancer Council is accountable
for its performance to Parliament,
regulators, stakeholders and the
community. Accountability mechanisms include annual reporting to
Parliament, program and grant reporting to funding agencies, surveys
and evaluations with stakeholder
groups, a policy framework, and best
practice and industry guidelines. The
organisation regularly receives and
welcomes feedback from stakeholders and the community about
specific aspects of its performance.

Council and
Statutory
Committees
The role and function of Council and
its committees are stipulated in the
Cancer Act 1958 (Vic).
Council appoints members to the
Executive, Finance and Appeals
Committees and meets annually
to receive committee reports and
audited financial statements. Council
includes non-specialist community
representation and appointees from
many medical and research organisations, as determined by the Cancer
Act.
The Executive Committee (also
known as the Board) approves strategic directions, organisation structure, policies and implementation
processes. The Executive Committee
performs the functions of a Board
and its members observe corporate
governance principles and a code of
conduct in keeping with those of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors. All other committees assist,
support and report to the Executive
Committee; it meets regularly and
reports to Council, on whose behalf
it makes decisions. The Director
is appointed by and reports to the
Executive Committee.
The Executive Sub-committee
(a sub-committee of the Executive
Committee) assists on issues as
determined by the Executive Committee, and can make decisions on
its behalf.
The Finance Committee has
responsibility for the financial affairs
and effective risk management of the
Cancer Council. The Finance Committee is assisted by the Audit and
Compliance Sub-Committee.

The Audit and Compliance Subcommittee oversees compliance with
a range of statutory obligations and
effective management of organisational risks, and provides advice to
the Finance Committee on matters
relating to financial systems integrity
and financial risk.
The Appeals Committee oversees
income generation, assists with
fundraising and obtains various
forms of in-kind assistance.
The Medical and Scientific Committee, supported by the Standing
Sub-committee on Research, provides medical and scientific advice to
the Executive Committee, including
assistance with the allocation of research funding and the development
of policies on research.
The Human Research Ethics Committee oversees ethical aspects of
research involving humans.
The Committees can fulfil their
functions by meeting jointly as
necessary.

Audit of
financial
statements
Each year the Victorian AuditorGeneral’s Office audits the financial
statements which, together with the
audit report, are included in the annual Report to Parliament.

Report to Parliament
The annual Report to Parliament is
submitted within one month of the
Annual Meeting of Council or within
one month of the next meeting of
Parliament. This report is published
on the Cancer Council’s website at
http://www.cancervic.org.au/media/
reports-and-submissions/reports_to_
parliament

Published report
The Annual Review is provided to
major stakeholders and is available to
the general public.

The work of the
Cancer Council
The number of people living with
cancer in Victoria is growing by
about 30% every ten years. There are
currently 144,000 people in this state
who have had cancer. Overall incidence rates are fairly stable and mortality rates are falling, but the number
of people affected is increasing,
probably because of the increase in
population and the state’s changing
age profile. Every day 70 Victorians
receive a cancer diagnosis.
In its Strategic Plan, the Cancer
Council states its core business as
‘the use of knowledge for cancer
control, defined as all actions that
reduce the burden of cancer in the
community. We conduct and support research as well as delivering
statewide support and prevention
programs and advocacy to reduce
the physical and emotional burden of cancer. Our leaders are of
international standing and we are
significantly and positively influencing the cancer agenda in Victoria and
beyond.’
We work for all Victorians, whatever their culture, language, location
or economic situation, by helping
people affected by cancer and
preventing cancer. We contribute to
overall health and wellbeing by supporting people with and at high risk
of cancer. Our information, knowledge and programs are developed
for and accessible to everyone who
might benefit from them.
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We believe in linking with the best
while remaining independent. We
maintain valued partnerships with
government, business and professional groups. While we work closely
with cancer clinicians and researchers and maintain a strong public profile, we preserve our independence
to maximise our capacity to influence
the public agenda on cancer.
Below are the highlights of 2007,
based on management’s detailed
report to the Board on performance
against the Strategic Plan. The corporate objectives and goals constitute
the sub-headings.
More detailed information on
our service programs and on our
research can be found at http://www.
cancervic.org.au/how-we-can-help
and http://www.cancervic.org.au/
about-our-research. Our Annual Review also provides details of research
projects undertaken by and through
the Cancer Council.

1. Reducing
the impact of
cancer on the
community
1.1 Promoting environments
and behaviours that facilitate
cancer prevention and control

a. Reduce the harm caused by
tobacco use in Victoria
We have worked towards increasing
support for tobacco control among
decision-makers, with a view to
maintaining this high on the public
agenda. We have also promoted and
helped to implement policies that encourage cessation and minimise the
uptake of smoking and the public’s
exposure to environmental smoke.
Quit Victoria (Quit) played a major

role in supporting legislation for
control of indoor smoking, which became effective from 1 July. The new
law for smoke-free enclosed areas
of bars and clubs was informed by
data from our Centre for Behavioural
Research in Cancer (CBRC).
Following a joint Quit/Cancer
Council/VicHealth/National Heart
Foundation submission to the State
Government, the Minister for Health
announced additional funding of
$10.4 million over four years in the
state budget to extend the Quitline
and for new anti-tobacco campaigns.
This successful approach to Government led to a substantial increase
in social marketing campaigns on
tobacco. In addition the Premier
announced funding of $1.87 million
(indexed) per year over three years
for Quit social marketing programs.
CBRC/Quit released data showing
a continued decline in adult smoking prevalence from 1998 to 2006.
A survey entitled Australian Secondary Students Alcohol & Other Drugs
also showed a downward trend in
smoking among secondary school
students.
The Quitline received 23,000 calls,
which included 12,200 requests to
speak to a counsellor. More than
4,000 organisations and individuals
ordered 506,000 Quit resources for
distribution to health professionals,
hospitals, government and educational institutions and workplaces.

b. Reduce the harm caused by ultraviolet (UV) radiation exposure
We have promoted sun protection in
the community through social marketing strategies and by advocating
for environmental change through
skin cancer prevention guidelines,
policies, codes and legislation at the
local, state and national levels.

SunSmart’s solarium advocacy
continued through extensive media
coverage and played a major role in
achieving regulation of the solarium
industry. The Minister for Health announced that the solarium industry
would be regulated using new rules
made under the Radiation Act 2005,
to come into effect in February 2008.
We also provided leadership in a
new inter-agency position statement
on Vitamin D. This resulted in the
coordinated release of a new position
statement by The Cancer Council
Australia on Vitamin D deficiency and
sun exposure in conjunction with
Osteoporosis Australia, the Australian & New Zealand Bone and Mineral
Society and the Australasian College
of Dermatologists.

c. Reduce the harm caused by obesity, poor diet and physical inactivity
In partnership with allied health agencies, we have worked to persuade
governments to adopt policies and
invest in public education campaigns
to improve nutritional intake and
physical activity levels. Through our
public education campaign, we have
also directly communicated to Victorians the health effects of obesity,
poor diet and physical inactivity.
We made a strong contribution to
state and Commonwealth outputs
relating to obesity prevention. The
Kids Go for Your Life partnership with
Diabetes Australia continued to grow
and succeed. This program was used
in the development of state frameworks for healthy eating and physical
activity.
In 2007 a new obesity prevention
campaign about waist circumference and cancer risk was launched.
Our Cancer Information and Support
Services (CISS) received 175 calls in
the first month of the campaign and
1,500 information kits were mailed
out. Early evaluation results are
encouraging.

1.2 Support evidence-based
screening to detect cancer
early

Reduce mortality for certain cancers
We have provided information to
enable Victorians to make informed
decisions about screening and have
advocated for proposals to screen for
cancer according to the potential to
reduce mortality. We have followed
this through by assisting with population screening programs at policy
and governance levels.
A bowel cancer early detection program was launched among Cancer
Council supporters and the general
public in a large local print media
campaign, resulting in the distribution of 2,500 faecal occult blood test
kits. This was a Cancer Council initiative aimed at filling gaps in the recent
national program.
Pap Screen Victoria sent out
10,000 letters prompting underscreened women to have a Pap
smear. 65.4% of Victorian women
had a Pap test in 2004-05. This is the
second highest screening rate of all
Australian states and territories, and
significantly higher than the state
average of 61.0%.

1.3 Promote the use of
evdence-based treatment and
care

Improve survival and reduce cancerrelated mortality
We have implemented strategies to
promote evidence-based treatments
as well as prevention and screening to clinicians and other health
professionals, and provided them
with advanced communication skills
education to optimise interaction
between clinician and patient.

CISS ran the highly successful 9th
National Breast Care Nurse conference, which attracted 380 delegates.
Workshops on HPV vaccination were
conducted to inform health professionals about the cervical cancer
vaccine. To date, workshops have
been attended by 800 health professionals, including more than 600
general practitioners and over 100
practice nurses, Pap test providers,
specialists, immunisation providers
and registrars.

1.4 Improve patients’, carers’
and long-term survivors’ quality of life through information,
services and support

Moderate the impact of cancer on
individuals
We have provided information and
support, and delivered programs
relating to the prevention, detection,
treatment and management of people affected by cancer and allied conditions. The scope of our programs
has included outreach to long-term
survivors of cancer and their families,
as well as psychological care and
support, and financial assistance
to patients who are unable to cope
with decreased income or increased
expenditure caused by their cancer
diagnosis and treatment.
CISS handled nearly 40,000 calls
to the Cancer Council Helpline from
patients, their families, carers and
health professionals. More than
450,000 booklets, information sheets
and other resources were distributed.
More than 2,200 referrals were made
to 133 Cancer Support Groups via
the Helpline, and 900 through the
Cancer Connect Telephone Peer Support Program.

1.5 Effectively communicate to
all Victorians, whatever their
culture, language, location or
economic situation

Communicate effectively to all communities and groups
We have developed a comprehensive
communication strategy, in the form
of a five-year communication plan
and a brand management strategy.
We have worked to ensure that our
programs, information and support
services reach and are accessible to
all Victorians, regardless of culture,
language, location and economic
situation.
Our website went through a major
redesign and now achieves 40,000
unique user sessions per month (this
represents a 25% increase in six
months). We issued 240 media releases and over 7,000 Cancer Council
Victoria related items in print and
electronic media (up 4% for the year).

2. Maintain a
highly capable
organisation
2.1 Generate appropriate
funding

Improve funding support
(Please see also the Finance Committee report to Council on page 19 and
our annual financial report.)
We monitored and evaluated market trends and new fundraising ideas
to verify their effectiveness in disseminating our cancer messages to
our supporters while enhancing their
involvement in our activities, as well
as increasing our charitable income.
Our total charitable income grew
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by 27% (15% excluding bequests),
with a 64% increase in the number
of regular givers, while the cost of
income generation decreased from
29.6% to 27%.
In 2007 our research units were
very successful with their external
research grant applications. This includes a US$2 million grant from the
National Institute for Health, several
grants from the NHMRC and one
from the Australian Research Centre.
We rebalanced our investment
portfolio, with professional advice,
and until the onset of volatility in the
stock market, our investments also
generated substantial income for the
year.
On a smaller scale, we explored
and developed commercial ventures
and ensured a stable and reliable
income source from Cancer Council
intellectual property and we successfully tendered for a number of contracted health promotion initiatives.

2.2 Deliver efficient services to
support programs

Ensure sound operations
We have worked to enhance our
infrastructure services. In 2007 there
was a staged introduction of Service
Level Agreements between Infrastructure and Program Units, leading
to greater management rigour. An
activity-based cost recovery platform
was also introduced for all Infrastructure Units.

2.3 Continually improve operational efficiency

b Maintain high ethical and professional standards

Improve efficiencies

Our Research Management Unit
(RMU) services our Human Research
Ethics Committee, which is registered with the National Health and
Medical Research Council (NHMRC).
The RMU team has ensured that
our research practices accord with
NHMRC and other relevant policies
and regulations.
The team successfully implemented the new NHMRC guidelines
for ethics approval of research studies and commenced work to achieve
compliance with the new research
code of conduct.
Our contracted internal auditor
has continued to audit a wide range
of our activities with a resulting
enhancement of a number of our
business practices.

We have continued our development of management policies and
reporting mechanisms. In the course
of the year all Infrastructure Units
were peer-reviewed. We have also
continued to nurture and develop the
contribution of our volunteers to extend our capacity to deliver services.
Through our internal auditing and
policy review processes, the annual
risk review for 2007 was executed
and combined with the implementation of the Business Continuity
system.
By monitoring supply and service
contracts we have realised greater efficiencies and significant economies.
Significant new savings and efficiencies were achieved in telecommunications and computer hardware.
Wherever possible we have collaborated with other like organisations to achieve efficiencies.

2.4 Sustain a culture of
integrity

a Ensure good governance
We have managed the recruitment
and membership renewal of our governing committees so as to ensure
proper and effective stewardship of
the Cancer Council’s resources and
reputation. All statutory obligations
were met.
The Board made a decision to
review and improve all statutory
committee charters, for which work
is in progress.

2.5 Nurture the people who
can do the job

Provide an attractive work climate
We have continued to ensure that
our staff recruitment and employment strategies attract and retain
high-quality staff, that they are valued
for their contribution and appropriately rewarded. Parallel attention has
been paid to the recruitment, training
and support of volunteers for appropriate roles in the organisation.
In 2007 the five-year collective
agreement was satisfactorily implemented and all position descriptions
were renewed for consistency and
accuracy.

3. Build the
knowledge
base for cancer
control
3.1 Support basic and applied
research, evaluation and monitoring that can advance cancer
control

Increase knowledge of cancer
In 2007 we undertook monitoring
and surveillance to document the
burden of cancer and the prevalence of risk factors. We conducted
research to better understand the
biology of cancer and the behavioural
and environmental determinants of
cancer. We also developed, evaluated and disseminated strategies
to prevent cancer, to increase its
early detection and to apply more
effective treatment and management
methods. We enhanced our research
capacity by fostering appropriate
research collaborations.
Some highlights for 2007 are:
• the release of cancer survival in
2004 estimates
• the start of a pilot study in the Barwon Southwest Region to collect
comprehensive clinical data for a
cancer registry
• the commencement of five Venture
Grants Schemes, which have generally demonstrated good progress
to first milestones
• the extension of the portfolio of
research studies undertaken in the
Centre for Behavioural Research in
Cancer, the Cancer Epidemiology
Centre and the VicHealth Centre
for Tobacco Control.

3.2 Effectively disseminate
the knowledge we have about
cancer control

Disseminate cancer control
knowledge
We reviewed and integrated new
and existing cancer knowledge into
principles of practice for cancer
control policies and programs, and
we contributed to the further development of cancer control through
publication, conference participation,
teaching, and staff development.
In 2007 over 120 peer-reviewed
papers were published or in progress
from our in-house research units. An
estimated 75 research papers were
published from project grants and
fellowship holders.

3.3 Provide foundations for
policy and practice by developing highly credible, authoritative position statements, and
policy and program proposals

Contribute to policy
We took many opportunities to assist
legislative and regulatory authorities
with information and advice that
enabled them to assess the potential
impact and effectiveness of regulatory proposals. We undertook studies
and reviewed evidence to demonstrate the need for change, quantified
community support for such change
and assessed the impact of policies
once implemented.
We made numerous submissions to
government, regulatory authorities
and enquiries in relation to a range
of issues, including tobacco control,
food labelling and obesity prevention.

4. Advocating
effectively for
cancer control
4.1 Position the Cancer Council
strategically

Advocate for cancer control
As mentioned above, several submissions to government have demonstrably brought about change, while
others are likely to have contributed.
We have responded to requests
for advice from government and
international organisations, and
demonstrated our trustworthiness
in providing confidential and reliable
advice during policy formulation.
Our staff represent us on numerous state, national and international
forums including the Union Internationale Contre le Cancer (UICC), the
World Health Organisation, NHMRC
committees and VicHealth.

4.2 Improve stakeholder management and communication

Improve our communications with
stakeholders
We have continued to improve our
communications with our supporters and other stakeholders through
our website, printed material, and
face-to-face contact, as in the case
of our public seminars in country
Victoria. Our corporate communications strategy included a review of
all stakeholder views and devising
strategies to address gaps.
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We have worked to identify and
engage relevant institutions, such
as hospitals, research organisations and government departments,
and led and shared knowledge by
documenting and publicising best
practice. We have also invested in
organisations that have the capacity
to improve cancer control in Victoria,
one notable example of this being
our support for the advocacy group
Cancer Voices Victoria.

Funding the
programs
Gross income for charitable support increased by approximately $6
million in 2007, due primarily to a
$3.6 million increase in bequests. The
final result was $29.4 million of gross
charitable income including retail
sales.
The strongest areas of performance
were in:
• Direct Mail, which equalled the
previous year’s performance
• Events, which grew by 14%
• Bequest income, which for 2007
was 15% above budget. This
represented a return to its fiveyear growth trend, being a 51%
increase on 2006

• Pink Ribbon Day continued to
experience some growth
• Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea
grew by 19%
• Relay for Life grew by 12%
• Daffodil Day grew by 8%.
• The Major Gifts and Trusts income
was above budget, due to Venture
Grants income of $0.58 million.
The strongest performers continue
to be our community participation
programs, which rely heavily on our
volunteer fundraisers. In addition,
a range of innovations was undertaken in the direct mail program,
to increase returns from current
supporters.
The table below shows the growth
in income and expenditure over the
last decade.
I am pleased to submit to Parliament this report on the work of the
Cancer Council for 2007. It highlights
some of the year’s many achievements and complements the reports
to Council from each of the statutory
committee Chairs.
Period
(Year ended)

Result
Surplus/
(Deficit)
$000s

Had it not been for the support of so
many Victorians the Cancer Council
would not have been able to achieve
as much as it does every year. The organisation’s most valuable resources
are the people who form its team: its
supporters, volunteers and donors,
as well as its staff.

Peter Griffin
President
22 April 2008

Revenue

Expenditure

$000s

$000s

Total
Assets
$000s

Dec 1997

289

20,643

20,754

18,140

Dec 1998

3,801

23,672

20,996

22,089

Dec 1999

(1,220)

21,212

21,712

22,420

Dec 2000

(745)

24,256

23,511

23,908

Dec 2001

2,244

32,605

30,361

29,709

Dec 2002

1,972

33,626

31,654

31,813

Dec 2003

1,027

36,034

35,007

34,734

Dec 2004

2,702

41,198

38,496

36,604

Dec 2005

4,702

43,548

38,846

42,761

Dec 2006

972

45,480

44,508

51,899

Dec 2007

5,534

55,215

49,681

58,118

Executive
Committee
Governance
Board appointment
The full membership of 14 was
achieved when Professor Joseph Trapani was appointed by the Medical
and Scientific Committee as its fourth
representative on the Board. Professor Trapani is the Deputy Director of
the Research Division and Head of
the Cancer Immunology Program at
the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre
in Melbourne. He also holds professorial fellowships at the University of
Melbourne and is Senior Principal Research Fellow of the National Health
and Medical Research Council.

Membership renewals
The remaining 13 Board members renewed their membership for a further
three-year cycle ending in 2010.

Declaration of interests
In keeping with current corporate
practice the register of declared
interests for Board members was
reviewed and updated at the start of
the year.

Relationships with Committees
In the course of the year the Board
received advice and regular reports
from the Medical and Scientific,
Appeals and Finance Committees,
and from the Audit and Compliance
Sub-committee.
The Finance and Appeals Committees have continued to meet jointly
while, in accordance with the Cancer
Act, remaining as separate committees. The Board has continued to
hold joint meetings with the Finance
and Appeals Committees in June and
December.

In order to maintain a sound interface between Council and the Board,
the Vice-President, Professor Richard
Fox, was in attendance at these two
joint meetings.

Human
Research Ethics
Committee
The Board received reports from the
Human Research Ethics Committee
(HREC) on projects approved, as well
as the annual certification of compliance with the National Statement on
Ethical Conduct in Research Involving Humans, issued by the Australian
Health Ethics Committee of the National Health and Medical Research
Council (NHMRC).
The Board was also briefed on the
application of the Statement about
the conduct of research, newly
released by the NHMRC. The new
guidelines are expected to have
some impact on the Cancer Council’s research documentation and
governance.

Strategic
leadership
In 2007 the Board began a significant process of reviewing its own
mandate for setting directions and
monitoring outcomes for the Cancer
Council, as well as deepening its appreciation of the challenges facing it
and the organisation.

A Board forum was held in August,
with the objective of reviewing the
section of the Strategic Plan that
outlines the organisation’s operating environment. The outcome was
a range of possibilities for future
exploration, coupled with a recognition that the current Strategic Plan
remains relevant for the organisation.
More recently the Board welcomed
the Director’s proposal for positioning the Cancer Council in relation to
trends, issues and stakeholders, and
resolved to use these as the basis for
further refining its understanding of
the strategic priorities, and redefining
its potential for providing guidance
and governance.

Expenditure
approvals
In March the Venture Grants
Scheme, which the Board had
considered and approved, was
publicly launched, with a good media
attendance. In December, the Board
was advised that all five projects had
successfully reached their first milestone and some had raised sufficient
funds to see them to the next (see
the Medical and Scientific Committee
Report for more details).
In conjunction with the Finance
Committee, the Board considered the
need for more suitable accommodation for the expanding staff of the
Cancer Council and has requested
management to develop a proposal.
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In December the Board approved
the allocation of $3.8 million to 18
research projects.
In 2007, a reserve list of high-quality fundable research projects that
would not normally be funded in the
current round because of the budget
limit was drawn up for Board consideration. The Board resolved that, in
the event that successful applicants
were unable to accept the offer or
received funding from other sources,
some or all of the applicants on the
reserve list would be provided with
funding within the allocated budget,
in the order that they were listed.

Investments
The Board has overall responsibility
for investment philosophy and strategy. With advice from the Finance
Committee, it decides on the level of
risk to accept; it ratifies the investment strategy and approves of the
parameters within which it is applied.
In mid-2007 the Board approved of
a rebalancing of the portfolio so as to
achieve close to a 50/50 ratio of cash
and investment equities. A watching
brief has been maintained since the
onset of the market downturn in early
2008 and advice is being provided by
the Finance Committee.

Legal status
During negotiations with the Community and Public Sector Union over
the new Collective Agreement the
issue of the Cancer Council’s legal
status had arisen. Advice obtained
from the Governance Branch of the
Premier’s Department as well as from
a QC was that the Cancer Council
was not a public entity for the pur-

poses of the Public Administration
Act. This was considered a significant
ruling for the Cancer Council’s
capacity to fundraise as a charity,
unhindered by the potential public
image of being a government-funded
body.
While the Cancer Council upholds
and endeavours to adhere to the best
practice guidelines for the public
sector, it has no obligation to comply
with a number of time-consuming
reporting requirements.

Management
The Executive Sub-committee of
the Board undertook a performance appraisal with the Director and
reviewed his longer-term plans, as
his inevitable retirement approaches.
While confidently and unanimously
supporting his continuation as
Director, the Board is beginning to
consider its approach to a succession
plan. The Board also acknowledges
the benefits to the Cancer Council of
his incumbency as President of the
UICC commencing August 2008, and
wishes to support him in this role.
The Executive Sub-Committee,
acting under its delegation as the
Remuneration Committee, also
received from the Director a detailed
set of salary recommendations for
executive level staff, which took into
account workvalue-specific movement in the employment market and
individual performance assessments.
The Board commended Ms Doreen
Akkerman, Director of the Cancer
Information and Support Service, for
being made a member of the Order
of Australia, as part of the 2007
Australia Day Honours, for her
work with cancer patients and their
families.
The Board also congratulated Mr
Todd Harper on his appointment as
Chief Executive Officer of VicHealth
as well as acknowledging Ms Susan
Fitzpatrick’s 24-year contribution

as Executive Officer servicing the
VCOG. Ms Fiona Sharkie, appointed
to replace Mr Harper as Executive
Director of the Tobacco Control Unit,
gave a presentation to the Board in
December.

Extension of Professor Ron Borland’s
Fellowship
Professor Borland’s performance as
the Nigel Gray Distinguished Fellow
was reviewed externally, and the
two independent evaluations were
extremely supportive of the Cancer
Council’s investment in the fellowship. The Board therefore agreed to
extend this from January 2010 to
December 2015.

Extension of Professor Don Metcalf ’s
Carden Fellowship
Professor Metcalf submitted a report
on work done in the two previous
years and proposed studies for the
next two. The Board enthusiastically
agreed to extend his fellowship from
December 2007 to 31 December
2009, on a basis comparable to the
present.

Senior management reports
The Director continued to provide
regular reports to the Board on internal matters as well as external events
pertinent to the Cancer Council’s
operations. He also reported against
the strategic objectives.
Mr David Fogarty, Business Manager, to whom all infrastructure units
report, has also provided regular
reports to the Board, via the Finance
Committee, on the business management of the organisation.
The Board received written and/or
verbal reports from each of the following Unit Heads during the year:
• Ms Doreen Akkerman AM, Director, Cancer Information and Support Service
• Ms Susan Fitzpatrick, Executive
Officer, Centre for Clinical Research
in Cancer

• Professor Graham Giles, Director,
Cancer Epidemiology Centre
• Ms Fiona Sharkie, Executive Director, Tobacco Control Unit
• Professor Melanie Wakefield,
Director, Centre for Behavioural
Research in Cancer
• Ms Woody Macpherson, Head,
Research Management Unit
• Ms Alison Peipers, Cancer Education Program Manager, Cancer
Education Unit
• Ms Deb Stringer, Director, Community Relations and Fundraising Unit.

Services, it has been possible to report survival by region and highlight
the significant differences.
The Minister agreed to commit to
increasing resources to the collection
of full clinical data on registered cancer patients.This commitment was
very welcome as it should assist the
registry to become one of the first in
the world to achieve this critical goal.
The Cancer Council has worked
with the new Minister for Health, the
Hon Daniel Andrews, who attended a
briefing session in December 2007.

Milestone

Quit Victoria (Quit) and the
VicHealth Centre for Tobacco
Control (VCTC)

The Cancer Council celebrated the
30th anniversary of the Tobacco Act
with a function at Parliament House,
attended by Victorian parliamentarians. To mark the occasion a publication titled The Victorian Tobacco
Act 1987 – the Untold Story was
released.

Award
In November the President’s Award
was presented to the satirist John
Clarke, for his outstanding service
to the Cancer Council in the areas of
advocacy, media support and fundraising. Mr Clarke is also a member
of Council.

Progress with
collaborative
relationships
State Government
The Cancer Council has continued
to offer cancer advice to the State
Minister for Health as required. In
2007 the Hon Bronwyn Pike attended
the launch of Cancer Survival Victoria
2007, a report compiled by the Cancer Registry. For the first time since
the creation of the Integrated Cancer

Quit is a joint initiative of the Cancer
Council, the Department of Human
Services, the National Heart
Foundation (Victorian Division) and
VicHealth, while the VCTC is funded
by the Cancer Council and VicHealth.
These two programs operate within
the Tobacco Control Unit (TCU) of the
Cancer Council, but are governed by
a Steering Committee.
The triennial external review of the
TCU commissioned by VicHealth was
completed. Interstate and overseas
experts were included in the panel,
chaired by the Chair of VicHealth, Ms
Jane Fenton. The review was very
favourable.

Victorian Cooperative Oncology
Group
This network of cancer specialists
and scientists has been coming
together at the Cancer Council
since 1976, to promote a range of
cooperative measures to optimise
cancer management in Victoria. Four
hundred and fifty clinicians form part
of 20 committees, with an Executive
Committee at their head. A strong
interface is maintained between the
Cancer Council and the Victorian

Cooperative Oncology Group (VCOG)
since four Board members and a
number of senior staff members sit
on various VCOG committees.
In 2007 the Cancer Council and
VCOG made a joint submission to a
Senate enquiry into assisted travel
schemes for patients. In February
2008, Professor David Allen retired
as Chair of the VCOG and Professor
Ingrid Winship began a two-year
term as Chair.

The Victorian Breast Cancer
Research Consortium Inc.
The Victorian Breast Cancer Research
Consortium Inc. (VBCRC) is an
incorporated association governed by
a Board of Management. The Board
is advised by a Scientific Committee.
Board members represent the Cancer
Council, the Victorian Cooperative
Oncology Group, the Victorian Minister for Health, women who have had
breast cancer and the Consortium
Scientific Committee. (The Director
of the Cancer Council and five Board
members, including Ms Saveria Dimasi as Chair, are ex-officio members
of the VBCRC Board of Management). The Scientific Committee includes independent scientific experts
and representatives of the member
institutes, breast cancer clinicians
and consumers.
In 2007, the VBCRC assisted the
Victorian Cancer Agency (VCA) with
a submission for continued funding.
Henceforth VBCRC funding will not
be by direct agreement between the
Department of Human Services and
the Cancer Council, but as a major
component of VCA budget. However,
it is expected that the VBCRC will
continue to be administered by the
Cancer Council.
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BreastScreen

Cancer Australia

The Cancer Council Australia

The Board has been kept informed,
especially in the latter part of the
year, of the negotiations with the
Department of Human Services
in regard to the continued funding of BreastScreen, on whose
board the Cancer Council has two
representatives.

The Collaborative Research Centre for
Cancer Therapeutics Pty Ltd (CRC)
was launched on 4 December in its
new premises at the Biotech Center
of the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute
of Medical Research in Bundoora,
and is now operating under the
chairmanship of Professor Richard
Fox. Several specific products have
been identified as a first-stage priority
for development. The Cancer Council
is one of the partners and has committed to contribute $100,000 per
annum for seven years, indexed for
inflation.

Cancer Australia (CA) is a national
government agency, working to
reduce the impact of cancer on all
Australians. It works in partnership
with many public bodies, including
cancer organisations, to improve
outcomes for all people affected by
cancer. Since February 2007 the Melbourne arm of CA has been housed
by the Cancer Council.
In its first year of operation it
invited The Cancer Council Australia
(TCCA) and its members to participate as partners in a cancer research
roundtable by providing funds to be
distributed to researchers nationally. Negotiations to engage the
Cancer Councils in these schemes
proceeded and by year-end the
parties were close to agreeing on a
partnership for grants to be submitted in 2008 and funded for 2009–11.
A working party led by the CEO of
TCCA, Professor Ian Olver, formulated two priority areas in alignment
with CA’s priorities.

The Victorian Cancer Biobank

The Victorian Cancer Agency

The Victorian Cancer Biobank is a
not-for-profit consortium supported
by the Cancer Council and the
Victorian Government. Housed at the
Cancer Council, it is governed by a
Consortium Committee comprised
of representatives of the founding
member organisations and additional
members, who provide expertise and
skills in the areas of cancer treatment, cancer research, pathology,
law and ethics, finance, marketing,
and cancer advocacy. Two sub-committees support the Consortium
Committee: the Access Committee
and the Informatics Committee.
The official launch of the Biobank
by the Minister for Innovation,
the Hon Gavin Jennings, received
significant media coverage, which
also increased public awareness. In
its first year more than 2000 patients
registered as tissue donors.

The Victorian Cancer Agency (VCA)
began its operations in March 2007,
its stated purpose being ‘to coordinate and improve the rapid translation of cancer research into improved
clinical care’. Its staff of five are
based at the Cancer Council offices
in Rathdowne Street.
The Chair and Advisory Council
were announced in June and the
Board was pleased to note that there
was some (non-representational)
cross-membership between the VCA
Council and that of the Cancer Council and the VCOG.
By accommodating both the VCA
and a branch of Cancer Australia, the
Cancer Council aims to enhance its
position as a cancer control campus
in Victoria.

Dr Stewart Hart and Professor David
Hill have continued to represent the
Cancer Council on the Board of TCCA
and contribute to national policy.
In 2007 Professor Ian Frazer was
elected President and the Hon Hendy
Cowan, Vice-President. In addition to
the change in leadership, with input
from The Cancer Council Victoria,
TCCA reviewed its constitution and
has formally constituted itself as a
limited company.
Through Professor David Hill’s
presidency of the UICC, TCCA aimed
to strengthen its links with this international body.
TCCA also drew up an agency
agreement with its state members to
make explicit the roles, relationships
and income distributions that arise in
pursuit of national and cooperative
fundraising activities. The Board of
The Cancer Council Victoria approved
an annual contribution of $1.2 million
to TCCA, whose national budget in
2007 was $5 million.
In the second half of the year,
TCCA released its federal election
cancer manifesto, with the following priorities: tobacco control; bowel
cancer control; nutrition and physical activity; workforce and equity
issues; breast cancer screening;
and research. Subsequently, TCCA
welcomed the new Federal Government’s cancer initiatives, which are:
bowel cancer screening; clinical trials
of drugs and research into cancer
treatment; new cancer initiatives
in the areas of breast and prostate
cancer; and increased funding for the
national tobacco strategy.
Facilitated by TCCA, the State
Cancer Councils worked together
towards a consistent ‘packaging’
of their work in order to present
a coherent picture of activities for
particular cancer sites.

Collaborative Research Centre for
Cancer Therapeutics Pty Ltd
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Union Internationale Contre
le Cancer
In 2007 Professor Hill briefed the
Board on the objectives of the Union
Internationale Contre le Cancer
(UICC) for the 2008 World Cancer
Congress Conference and his own
efforts to recruit new members by
encouraging Australian bodies to
join.

Report to
Parliament
The program activities are usually
described in some detail in the President’s Report to Parliament, which
will be published on the Cancer
Council website, www.cancervic.
org.au.
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I would like to thank all the members
of the Board for their contribution to
the governance and decision-making aspects of the Cancer Council in
2007 and their keen interest in the
ongoing work of the organisation.
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changing and the Board continues
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Cancer Council well into the future,
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Council in the Victorian community
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The forum held in the second half
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scenarios. The Board continues to
discuss the implications of the information and ideas heard at this forum
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priority setting. The Board is keen to
ensure that the historic commitment
to caring for those affected by cancer
continues alongside strong support
for research and development.
Once again the Board has been
strongly supported by Mr Peter
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Business Manager, Mr David Fogarty,
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the ups and downs of the broader
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activities; and Ms Andrea Waters,
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the community of cancer organisations and supporting an excellent,
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responsible and internationally
recognised leadership of the Director,
Professor David Hill. I congratulate
and thank the Director and staff of
the Cancer Council for their excellent
work and achievements.
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The application of new knowledge
generated by cancer research leads
to better treatment, earlier diagnosis
and prevention of cancer, benefiting cancer patients now and in the
future.
Cancer research is the basis for the
increasing rates of survival – 60%
of Victorians now survive a cancer
diagnosis.
In 2007, The Cancer Council
Victoria spent $19.7 million on cancer
research.
The following table from the 2007
audited accounts gives a summary of
our expenditure on the major cancer
research programs funded in 2007.
The 2006 figures are included for
comparison.

Medical and
Scientific
Committee role
The functions of the Medical and
Scientific Committee stem from the
Cancer Act 1958, which states: The
Medical and Scientific Committee
provides advice to the Executive
Committee as to the nature, scope
and method of promoting investigations and research with respect to
cancer and allied conditions and with
respect to the causation, prevention
and treatment thereof.
Membership of the Medical and
Scientific Committee is specified by
the Cancer Act 1958 and includes
members appointed by Victorian

universities, hospitals, medical
research institutes and the medical
specialist colleges. The members
appointed for 2007 are listed in the
Annual Review.

Research funded
by the Medical
and Scientific
Committee
The research funded in Victorian
hospitals, universities and medical
research institutes is allocated by the
Medical and Scientific Committee.
We take advice from the Standing
Research Sub-committee, which
conducts a rigorous peer review and

Research

$000s

$000s

Support of basic scientific studies and programs funded by the Medical and Scientific
Committee, clinical investigations and programs. This includes funding under our
Cancer Trials Management Scheme, $750,000 in grants to 18 hospital cancer clinics to
assist clinicians to enrol patients in clinical trials

8,700

8,644

Victorian Cancer Registry – registers all cancer cases in Victoria and provides statistical analyses

2,509

1,904

Centre for Behavioural Research in Cancer – a centre for research into behavioural
aspects
of cancer prevention, detection and rehabilitation

2,597

2,987

Cancer Epidemiology Centre – a centre for research into the occurrence, distribution
and
determinants of disease

2,545

3,857

Health 2000 – a study to ascertain the effect of lifestyle factors (especially diet) on the
incidence of a range of diseases

1,427

567

VicHealth Centre for Tobacco Control – a centre to investigate new ways to reduce
tobacco usage

1,940

1,867

19,718

19,826

Total

2007

2006

selection process to identify which
applications should receive funding
and to ensure that all money donated
to us is channelled into the highest
quality research.
The Committee has a budget
for biomedical research and each
year funding is provided to cancer
researchers in the following ways,
which range across the various
stages of a research career.
Vacation Studentships are available to undergraduate students
enrolled in relevant disciplines at
any Victorian university. The students’ work must be done as part
of a cancer research program being
conducted at a university or other
research organisation. The studentship placements are for a maximum
of six weeks during the summer
vacation, and they receive $250 per
week. Twenty-five studentships were
awarded for the 2007–08 period.
Postgraduate Research Scholarships are awarded to science or
medical graduates who are enrolled
in postgraduate research studies (a
PhD or equivalent). The tenure of the
scholarship is usually three years.
In late 2007 we offered one medical
and three scientific scholarships to
commence in 2008 and we are currently supporting a total of thirteen
scholarship holders at various stages
of their postgraduate studies. The
stipend for science scholarships is
$20,000 per annum and medical
scholars receive a stipend of $25,000
per annum.
Postdoctoral Research Fellowships provide researchers who
have recently completed a PhD with
support for an additional year of
research, based on their thesis work.
Three new post-docs commenced in
July 2007, two for a full year and one
for a short term, and an additional
two were awarded in November to
commence in January 2008.

Grants-in-Aid are offered each
year to support research over a
period of between one and three
years to a maximum of $70,000
per year. In 2007 we supported 45
separate research projects via this
scheme.
In general terms, the criteria for
the awarding of grants-in-aid are
relevance to cancer, excellence,
the value of the research and the
researcher’s capacity to successfully
complete the research described in
the application.
While there are no specified priority
areas for grants-in-aid research, currently most grants-in-aid are for very
high quality basic research or clinical
research that focuses on diagnosis
and management. Research projects
cover a range of cancer types and
research disciplines, including bone,
bowel, breast, leukaemia, ovarian
and prostate cancer, in fields such as
immunology, molecular biology and
genetics. A number of the studies
we fund are investigations that will
benefit all cancers. In November
2007, $3.8 million was awarded to
18 new grants-in-aid to commence
in 2008. The value of grants-in-aid
was increased from $70,000 per
annum to a maximum of $100,000
per annum.
Fellowships are our most prestigious awards and they provide support
to a small number of senior researchers. Our fellowships include the
Lions, Dunlop, Colebatch and Carden
Fellowships. The Lions Fellowship is
made possible via the interest from a
capital fund donated by the Victorian
Lions Foundation and is held by
Dr Bob Anderson, who is working
on controlling coeliac disease and
cancer. The Dunlop Fellowship was
established by a special appeal in
honour of our long-term patron
and supporter, the late Sir Edward
(‘Weary’) Dunlop. This fellowship

(the third of our Dunlop Fellowships)
is held by Dr Grant McArthur of the
Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre.
Dr McArthur’s research is on the
development of targeted therapies
for cancer. The inaugural Colebatch
Clinical Research Fellowship is held
by Dr Kelly-Anne Phillips of the Peter
MacCallum Cancer Centre, who is
working on reducing the burden of
breast cancer. This Fellowship was
established in memory of Dr John
Colebatch (1909–2005). Dr Colebatch
is remembered for his contribution to
the Cancer Council and his pioneering work in the field of paediatric
haematology and clinical trial practice
in Australia.
The Carden Fellowship acknowledges George Carden’s bequest,
made in 1945, and has been held by
Emeritus Professor Don Metcalf for
more than 50 years. Professor Metcalf’s research has led to the development of a major supportive cancer
therapy which has so far benefited
around five and a half million cancer
patients worldwide. He discovered
the naturally occurring regulators of
bone marrow growth, named Colony
Stimulating Factors (CSFs), which
guide the division and maturation of
white cells, prolonging their shelf life
within blood banks and materially
strengthening their function in the
body. The Cancer Council receives a
share of the royalties generated from
Professor Metcalf’s inventions.
In 2006 the Medical and Scientific
Committee identified early career
clinical research as an area where
additional support was needed. The
Board approved a budget increase in
2007 to allow for this new initiative. A
three-year fellowship was advertised,
aimed at supporting and developing
a clinically trained medical researcher
with the intellectual and personal
qualities to take on a future leadership role in cancer research. Eligibility
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was for researchers with up to four
years’ postdoctoral research who
were yet to become independent
researchers. An important aspect
of the Fellowship is that it supports
protected research time (protected
from clinical and administrative duties) that is complementary to the
Fellow’s clinical work. The successful
applicant is Dr Kirsten Herbert from
the Department of Clinical Haematology and Medical Oncology at the
Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre.
Dr Herbert will work on the use of
novel therapies in haematopoietic
stem cell transplantation in cancer.
Dr Herbert’s work involves
collaboration with the Australian
Stem Cell Centre and a condition of
her offer is that two of the three days
per week funded by the Fellowship are dedicated to work with this
group.

Venture Grants Scheme
The Venture Grants Scheme, which
commenced in 2006, continues. It
is designed to support research that
pushes the conventional boundaries.
Addressing a lack of resources and
funding to investigate highly imaginative research ideas in Australia, the
Venture Grants Scheme aims to
provide leading researchers with the
financial backing to undertake their
cutting edge projects. The Cancer
Council provided initial funding for
the first milestones of the five successful projects (a total of $758,250),
and is seeking additional donations
from generous, philanthropic individuals who understand our vision for
innovative, adventurous research.
Progress and milestone reports
were received during 2007 and the
Venture Grants Committee has been
pleased with progress.

Monitoring the research
All researchers report their scientific
progress annually in writing to the
Medical and Scientific Committee,
including the details of publications
and patent applications arising from
our grants. Researchers also assist
with lay reporting of their research
for donors and the general public.
In 2007, 68 scientific publications
were generated from this research
and 84 presentations were made
(51 national, 33 international). Two
provisional patent applications were
filed in 2007.

Other awards
Researchers also reported receiving
the following awards:

Grants-in-Aid
Associate Professor Geoff Lindeman,
Eric Susman Prize for 2007 awarded
by the Royal Australasian College of
Physicians
Professor James McCluskey, Rose
Payne Medal from the American
Society for Histocompatibility and
Immunogenetics
Dr Jamie Rossjohn awarded an
Australian Research Council Federation Fellowship, and the Gottschalk
Medal of the Australian Academy of
Science
Professor Mark Smyth, NHMRC
Senior Principal Research Fellowship,
2007–11; and the Gordon Ada Oration, Australian Society for Immunology, Sydney

Postdoctoral Fellowships
Dr Aleksandar Dakic, awarded European Molecular Biology Organization
long-term fellowship for continuation
of postdoctoral research overseas
(commencing 2007).

National co-ordination of research
grant application assessment
Since 2000, the Research Management Unit has managed, on behalf
of the Cancer Council Australia, the
peer review assessment and ranking
of all the cancer research grant applications received by state cancer
councils and the National Breast Cancer Foundation (NBCF). A partnership
with the NHMRC commenced in
2005 with all cancer funding body
applications being submitted via the
NHMRC process, and the Cancer
Councils and NBCF continuing to
make their own funding decisions.
This coordinated, centralised process reduces duplication and is more
efficient for applicants, committees
and Cancer Councils.
Other work carried out by the small
but skilled Research Management
Unit includes policy development
and support for the Human Research
Ethics Committee and the Institutional Research Review Committee,
as well as the management of the
Victorian Breast Cancer Research
Consortium Inc.

Acknowledgments
The Research Management Unit
The secretariat and all other administrative functions for the Medical and
Scientific Committee are performed
by the staff of the Research Management Unit and on behalf of the Committee I would like to thank Woody
Macpherson, Felicity Fairbairn, Josie
Italia and Philippa Thomson for their
tremendous assistance and hard
work during 2007.

Medical and Scientific Committee
and sub-committees

Cancer Council donors and
supporters

I would like to thank the Medical and
Scientific Committee for their support
and also express our appreciation
of the work of the members of the
Standing Research Sub-committee
and the Venture Grants Committee.
These people have generously
given their time and expertise to
the research policies of the Cancer
Council as well as the arduous selection process for our research grants,
postdoctoral fellowships, scholarships and studentships.

In 2007 the Cancer Council spent
$19.7 million on research. This
research can be funded because
of the generosity of donors from
around Victoria who contribute via
bequests, donations and participation
in fundraising activities such as Relay
for Life, Australia’s Biggest Morning
Tea, Girls Night In and Daffodil Day.
Additional funding for our internal
research programs comes from
research funding bodies and government; groups such as VicHealth and
the NHMRC.
Our research informs every aspect
of cancer control. We thank all of our
donors for their generous contributions to the fight, and the researchers
who are using these research donations in such effective and exciting
ways.

Board and Council appointees
There are two other groups of individuals who deserve special mention:
our Council and Board appointees.
The four representatives of the
Medical and Scientific Committee on
Council are: Dr Phillip Campbell
(Andrew Love Cancer Centre,
Geelong Hospital), Mr Mark Eastman (Shepparton Private Hospital),
Professor Peter Fuller (Prince Henry’s
Institute of Medical Research) and
Professor Evan Simpson (Prince
Henry’s Institute of Medical
Research). The three Medical and
Scientific Committee representatives who join me on the Executive
Committee (Board) have been: Mr
Stewart Hart (Head of Breast Surgery,
Monash Medical Centre), Professor
Peter Fuller (Prince Henry’s Institute
of Medical Research) and Professor
Joseph Trapani (Deputy Director of
Research, Peter MacCallum Cancer
Centre). Their contribution and commitment to the work of the Cancer
Council’s governance on these major
Committees should once again be
acknowledged.
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Associate Professor Andrew Roberts
Chair

Appeals
Committee
Appeals Advisory Committee

Donor Program

The Appeals Advisory Committee is a
committee of senior business people
whose aim is to generate donations
from high net worth individuals in the
Victorian community.

The tax mail out generated its highest
ever response in 2007 at $1.18 million, and direct mail overall resulted
in $3.7 million, which constitutes a
greater than 5% growth from 2006.
In addition, In Memoriam income
grew 11% against the 2006 result.

Media and Marketing Advisory
Committee
The Media and Marketing Advisory
Committee was officially disbanded
in 2007. The Bottoms Up Ball, the
key fundraising event this group
steered, has been discontinued.
annual report
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Overview
Total gross charitable and retail
income for 2007 was $29.4 million.
Charitable and Retail income, excluding Bequests, grew by 14% from
2006, an increase of approximately
$2.3 million.

Events
Total Events income grew by 14% in
2007, largely due to strong results
in a number of areas. Girls’ Night In
achieved 47% growth in its third year,
Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea grew
by 19%, Relay for Life by 12%, Pink
Ribbon Day by 11% and Daffodil Day
by 8%.
Major events continue to provide
the many opportunities for significant
numbers of volunteers, fundraisers
and supporters to interact with the
Cancer Council.

Bequests Program
In 2007 there was a significant
increase in Bequests income, which
represented growth in line with the
five-year forecast. Bequests grew
by 51% to $10.7 million from $7.1
million in 2006. The final distribution
of $2.7 million from the Pearce Estate
was the single largest estate ever
received by the Cancer Council. The
total received from the estate over a
number of years was $3.4 million.

Community and corporate
fundraising
The program achieved a result of $2
million in 2007, an 11% decrease on
2006. This program has a number of
volunteer-initiated activities and niche
events for specific markets and includes balls, special efforts, Volunteer
Units, golf and bowls programs and a
statewide raffle. The raffle decreased
by 27% in 2007, however sporting
events grew by 13%.

Retail services program
Store revenue increased by 4% in
2007. Total turnover for the year was
$1.9 million.
Income from commercial licence
streams was $0.32 million for the
year.

Major Gifts, Corporate Donations,
Trusts and Foundations
The restructure of this area and inclusion of Major Gifts as a new income
stream resulted in a total income
of $1.85 million in 2007. Corporate
donations and Trusts generated
$0.41 million and $0.58 million was
generated from two donations to the
Venture Grants Scheme alone.

Mr A S Murdoch
Chair

Finance
Committee
Cash flow and
The net result for the year was a
surplus of $5.5 million compared
with $0.97 million for the previous year. Whilst significantly above
2006, this result includes investment
returns of $4.9 million in 2007, compared to $3.8 million in 2006, as well
as a deferral of funds received for
external programs until 2008.

Income
Our total charitable support income
increased from $21.7 million to $27.5
million. This was largely due to an
increase in receipts from bequests,
from $7.1 million in 2006 to $10.7
million in 2007. The Direct Mail program along with Australia’s Biggest
Morning Tea achieved budget. Relay
for Life did not quite make budget
but this was partly offset by the Venture Grants Scheme income of $0.58
million. Continued growth in the
Girls’ Night In program occurred and
offset most of this shortfall. The total
income from Events grew by 14%.
Government and contractual
grants from other funding bodies for
specific projects amounted to $18.5
million. This compares with $14.5
million received in 2006.

Expenditure
Total expenditure increased from
$44.5 million to $49.7 million of
which $19.7 million was applied to
research and $21.8 million to prevention and early detection programs
– which represents a total increase in
2007 of $4.6 million for research and
program services.
Charitable support expenditure
increased from $5.9 million to $7.1
million to provide investment in
future growth initiatives.
The cost of accommodation,
information technology and some
central overhead costs were charged
to programs on a benchmarked
usage basis rather than by a general
allocation.

outlook for 2008

At the end of 2007, our transactional
bank account showed a balance of
$0.4 million and $37.9 million of investment funds available to fund the
Cancer Council’s operating activities.
This investment pool in 2008 is
budgeted to decrease by $2.3 million
to fund capital expenditure of $0.9
million and additional programs
approved as part of the Strategic
Plan to be implemented in 2008. In
addition, in January there have been
unrealised losses of $2.1 million in
overall value, amounting to an 8–9%
loss across the whole portfolio. It
is estimated that the losses sustained in January have cancelled the
overbudget gains made in 2007. The
Finance Committee assumes that the
unrealised losses incurred will not
be recovered and that further losses
may be incurred during the remainder of the year.
Our total cash and investment reserve position significantly increased
from $29.7 million in 2006 to $37.9
million in 2007 as a result of
achieving high investment returns
and the deferral to 2008 of some
program activities.
The Cancer Council has, at current
valuations, a total of $17.7 million
invested in land and buildings.

Investments
UBS Wealth Management continued
as our Fund Manager throughout
2007.

Audit and
Compliance
Sub-Committee
The Audit and Compliance Sub-Committee, under the chairmanship of
Andrea Waters, has met regularly
throughout the year to receive
reports relating to accounting, risk

management and compliance matters. The key matters considered
by the committee during the year
included:
• Review of the annual financial
statements and liaison with the
Auditor General in relation to their
audit thereon;
• Oversight of action taken in response to the matters raised by the
Auditor General in their management letter relating to the financial
report for 2006;
• Review of the Internal Audits
undertaken by William Buck,
and oversight of action taken in
response to the matters raised
therein, namely:
» Complaints Management
2006–07
» Retail Review 2006–07
» Payroll Process 2007
» Grant Acquittal Process 2007
» Accounts Receivable and Income Processing Review 2007
» Fundraising and Cash Handling
2007
» Follow-up Review 2007
• Review of regular risk management reports highlighting contracts
entered and control issues.

Finance and
Appeals
Committee
These Committees met together and
this enables productive discussions
on income and expenditure issues by
both committees.

Investment Sub-committee
This Sub-Committee was discontinued in 2007 and its functions assumed by the Finance Committee.

Mr P Ingham
Chair
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ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

Income
statement

			

2007

2006

Note

$’000s

$’000s

Charitable support
External program funding
Other income

1 o) (i)
1 o) (iii)
3

27,491
18,506
8,047

21,723
14,500
8,171

Retail operations:
- Sales of goods
- Cost of goods sold

1 o) (ii)
1 e)

1,925
(754)

1,831
(745)

Gross profit on retail operations		

1,171

1,086

		

55,215

45,480

7,149

5,927

19,718
21,833
335
630
16
49,681

19,826
17,168
346
859
382
44,508

Income from continuing operations
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Expenses from continuing operations
Charitable support		
Program services:
- Research
4
- Cancer prevention & early detection
4
Royalties, fees for services and other		
Retail expenses		
Administrative support		
			

			
Net profit for the year		

The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

5,534

972

ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2007

Balance sheet
			

2007

2006

Note

$’000s

$’000s

Cash and cash equivalents
1 c), 5
Receivables
1 d), 6
Inventories
1 e)
Other financial assets
1 f), 7
Other assets		

4,993
736
261
33,349
86

1,299
2,024
326
28,689
104

Total Current Assets		

39,425

32,442

1 g), 8
1 h), 9

18,197
496

18,796
661

Total Non-Current Assets		

18,693

19,457

TOTAL ASSETS		

58,118

51,899

ASSETS
Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible Assets

LIABILITIES

23

Current Liabilities
Payables
1 j)
Administered program funding
1 k), 10
Employee benefits
1 l), 11
Provision for research grants		

2,803
885
3,152
5,073

1,963
1,238
3,143
4,301

Total Current Liabilities		

11,913

10,645

Employee benefits
1 l), 11
Provision for research grants		

239
4,677

286
5,224

Total Non-Current Liabilities		

4,916

5,510

TOTAL LIABILITIES		

16,829

16,155

NET ASSETS		

41,289

35,744

12.1
12.2

27,812
13,477

26,042
9,702

TOTAL EQUITY		

41,289

35,744

Non-Current Liabilities

EQUITY
Reserves
Accumulated surplus

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

statement of
changes in equitY
		

Note

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

Total equity at the beginning of the financial year		

35,744

30,237

12.1 d)
12.1 a)
12.1 a)

38
(28)

4,535
-

Net income (expense) recognised directly in equity		

10

4,535

Net profit for the year		

5,534

972

Total equity at the end of the financial year		

41,289

35,744

Gain on revaluation of land and buildings		
Special funds received		
Transfers out from special funds reserve		
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The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

cash flow
statement

		

Note

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

Receipts
Receipts from charitable support, retail, royalties and fees for service		
Funding for external projects		
Interest income		
Net realised gains (losses) on other financial assets		
Goods and Services Tax recovered		

33,755
18,506
129
1,569
957

27,638
14,500
113
1,802
259

Payments
Payments to suppliers and employees		
Goods and Services Tax paid		

(48,957)
(308)

(39,697)
(508)

14

5,651

4,108

Purchases of property, plant and equipment
8
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment		
Net purchases of financial instruments		

(608)
2
(1,361)

(1,065)
(3,665)

Net Cash used in investing activities		

(1,967)

(4,730)

Special funds received		
Transfers out from special funds reserve		

38
(28)

-

Net Cash provided by financing activities		

10

-

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held		

3,694

(622)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year		

1,299

1,921

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

4,993

1,299

5

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

Notes to the
Financial statements
Note 1 – significant accounting policies
The Anti-Cancer Council (“Council”) is a not for profit charity incorporated in Victoria under the Cancer Act
1958. The financial report for the year ended 31 December 2007 covers the Anti-Cancer Council of Victoria as an individual entity.
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a) Statement of compliance
The Financial Report is a general purpose financial report prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (AASB) and AASB Interpretations, the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Financial
Reporting Directions issued under that legislation.
The financial report consists of the financial statements of the Council. The accounting policies adopted in preparing
the financial report have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements were approved by the Finance Committee and Board and authorised for issue by Sue
Madden, Finance Manager of the Council.
The following is a summary of the accounting policies adopted by the Council in the preparation of the financial
report.
b) Basis of preparation
The Council has prepared financial statements in accordance with the AIFRS and with all relevant International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) from 1 January 2005.

Reporting basis and conventions
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs modified by the revaluation
of selected classes of non-current assets and financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Council’s accounting
policies.

Key estimates – Impairment
The Council assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Council that may lead to
the impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Valuein-use calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates.

Key judgments – Allowance for doubtful debts
The likelihood of the recovery of these amounts is assessed periodically and an estimated allowance is made for non
recovery of particular amounts outstanding.

Rounding of amounts
All amounts shown in the Financial Report are expressed to the nearest thousand dollars, where applicable.

c) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, normally when it has a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Council’s cash management are included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement.
The fair value at the reporting date of cash and cash equivalents is the same as its carrying amount.

ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

d) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy i). Credit revenues
should be recovered in no more than 30 days for all debtors.
A provision is made for any doubtful debts (if there is any) based on a review of all outstanding amounts at reporting
date. Bad debts are written off in the period in which they are identified.
Trade receivables are reported at their carrying amount, where this is a reasonable approximation of their fair value.
e) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.
The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition.
f) Other financial assets
The Council classifies its other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Investments in debt and equity securities
Financial instruments held for trading are classified as current assets and are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain
or loss recognised in the income statement. The fair value of financial instruments is their quoted bid price at the balance
sheet date.
Where these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in
the income statement.
Financial instruments classified as held for trading are recognised / derecognised by the Council on the date it commits to purchase / sell the investments.

g) Property plant and equipment
(i) Owned assets

Both Land and Buildings have been revalued to fair value on 31 December 2006, measured at the amounts for which assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction and taking into account
any impairment.
Both Land and Buildings are measured at fair value with regard to the properties’ highest and best use after due
consideration is made for any legal or constructive restrictions imposed on the land, public announcements or commitments made in relation to their intended use. Theoretical opportunities that may be available in relation to the asset are
not taken into account until it is virtually certain that the restrictions will no longer apply.
Plant and equipment with cost over $1,000 (2006 - $1,000) are capitalised at cost. Plant and equipment are measured as deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.
(ii) Revaluation

Assets other than those that are carried at cost are assessed annually to ensure that the carrying amount of each asset
does not differ materially from its fair value. However, an independent valuation is commissioned normally every three
years. Revaluation increments or decrements arise from differences between an asset’s depreciated cost or deemed
cost and fair value.
Revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve, except that, to the extent that an
increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as an expense in
determining net result, the increment is recognised as income in determining the net result.
Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the net result, except that, to the extent that a
credit balance exists in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of assets, the decrement is debited
directly to the asset revaluation reserve.
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ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

Revaluation increases and decreases relating to individual assets within a class of property, plant and equipment are
offset against one another within class but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes. Revaluation reserves
are not transferred to accumulated funds on derecognition of the relevant asset.
(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of
an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Depreciation
Rates
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CLASS OF ASSET

2007

2006

Building & Improvements

2.5%

2.5%

Freehold improvements

20.0%

20.0%

Computer Equipment

33.3%

33.3%

Office equipment

20.0%

20.0%

Furniture & fittings and Telephone equipment

20.0%

20.0%

Research Equipment and other

20.0%

20.0%

Plant & Equipment

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reassessed annually.

h) Intangible assets

Computer Software
Represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance. In accordance with the Council’s policy Computer Software with a cost over $5,000 is recognised at cost. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised
when it is expected that additional future economic benefits will flow to the Council.
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life estimate.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, that is, when it is in the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each annual reporting period.
In addition, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there are indicators that the intangible
asset concerned is impaired. If so, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their
recoverable amount. Computer software is amortised over a 5 year period.

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding, is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.
Expenditure on development activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improve products and processes, is capitalised if the product or process is commercially
feasible and the Council has sufficient resources to complete the development. The expenditure capitalised includes
the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is
recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see accounting policy i).

ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

i) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Council’s assets, other than inventories (see accounting policy (g)) are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated (see (i) below).
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement, unless an asset has previously been
revalued, in which case the impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with
any excess recognised through profit or loss.
(i) Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
(ii) Reversals of impairment

In respect of assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

j) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at cost. They are related to the amounts to be paid in the future for goods and
services received.
Trade payables are reported at their carrying amount, where this is a reasonable approximation of their fair value.
k) Administered Program Funding
The Administered Program Funding is related to grants received to finance special programs, which are administered by
the Council. These programs do not form part of the operations of the Anti-Cancer Council, therefore details of receipts
and payments are not included in the income statement; however the corresponding movements of cash are included in
the cash flow statement.
Any grants unspent at balance date are recorded as a current liability in the Balance Sheet. These funds are invested
in fixed interest and at call facilities in accordance with the grant terms and are included as part of managed funds
under Note 7.
l) Employee benefits
The calculation of employee benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at the reporting date.
(i) Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and Long service leave

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service
leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.
Provisions made in respect of employee benefits are measured based on their expected settlement. Provisions
which are expected to be settled within 12 months are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate
expected to apply at the time of settlement. Provisions which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Council in respect of services
provided by employees up to reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the reporting date to estimate the future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money.
Regardless of the expected timing of settlement, provisions made in respect of employee benefits are classified as a
current liability unless there is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
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ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

the reporting date, in which case it would be classified as a non-current liability. Provisions made for annual leave and
unconditional long service leave are classified as a current liability where the employee has a present entitlement to the
benefit. A non-current liability would include long service leave entitlements accrued for employees with less than 7
years of continuous service.
(ii) Accumulated superannuation contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to accumulated superannuation contribution plans are recognised as an expense in the
income statement as incurred.
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m) Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Council has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the
amount can be reliably measured. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the liability.
Liabilities relating to Research Grants are provided for in order to recognise the Council’s obligation to pay grants
to external agencies in accordance with funding agreements that commit the Council to pay these funds per agreed
timeframes.
n) Share capital
The Anti-Cancer Council is a not for profit charity incorporated in Victoria under the Cancer Act 1958. As such there is
no share capital recorded in the financial statements.
The Council does not pay any dividends.
o) Revenue
(i) Charitable support

Charitable support is recognised in the income statement on a cash basis, when the Council has the control of the
contributions.
(ii) Goods sold and services rendered

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the income statement when
the services have been provided.
(iii) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the income statement as operating income when the following conditions have
been satisfied:
(a) the entity obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution;
(b) it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the Council; and
(c) the amount of the contribution can be measured reliably.
(iv) Royalties

Revenue arising from royalties is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement when:
(a) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
(b) the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

(v) Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in the income statement on the date the Council’s right to receive payments is established which in the case of quoted securities is the date received.
(vi) Interest income

Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
(vii) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.

p) Expenses

Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.

q) Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Council that is engaged in providing services (business segment),
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from other segments.
r) Goods and services tax
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or
payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising
from investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating
cash flows.
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s) Australian Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective
At the date of this financial report the following amendments, standards and interpretations have been issued but are
not yet effective; and may impact the councils financial statements in the period of initial application:
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Amendment

Summary/Standard Affected

Application
Date

Application
Date for the
Council

AASB 2007 -2 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB Interpretation
12

AASB 1, AASB 117, AASB 118, AASB 120,
AASB 121, AASB 127, AASB 131, & AASB
139

01-Jan-2008

01-Jan-2008

AASB 2007 -3 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 8

AASB 5, AASB 6, AASB 102, AASB 107,
AASB 119, AASB 127, AASB 134, AASB 136,
AASB 1023 & AASB 1038

01-Jan-2009

01-Jan-2009

AASB 2007 -4 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
arising from ED 151 and Other
Amendments

AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 102, 107, 108, 110,
112, 114, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 127,
128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137,
138, 139, 141, 1023 & 1038

01-Jul-2007

01-Jan-2008

AASB 2007 -5 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standard
– Inventories Held for Distribution
by Not-for-Profit Entities

AASB 102  - Inventories

01-Jul-2007

01-Jan-2008

AASB 2007 -6 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 123

AASB 1, AASB 101, AASB 107, AASB 111,
AASB 116 & AASB 138 and Interpretations 1
& 12

01-Jan-2009

01-Jan-2009

AASB 2007 -7 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards

AASB 1, AASB 2, AASB 4, AASB 5, AASB 107
& AASB 128

01-Jul-2007

01-Jan-2008

AASB 2007 -8 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 101

Amends the majority of standards and Interpretations as a result of issue of AASB 101

01-Jan-2009

01-Jan-2009

AASB 2007 -9 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
arising from the Review of AASs
27, 29 and 31

AASB 3, AASB 5, AASB 8, AASB 101, AASB
114, AASB 116, AASB 127 & AASB 137

01-Jul-2008

01-Jan-2009

AASB 8 - Operating Segments

New standard: replaces AASB 114. Impact
expected: disclosures only

01-Jan-2009

01-Jan-2009

AASB 123 - Borrowing Costs

Revised standard: requires borrowing costs
directly attributable to qualifying assets to be
capitalised (previously allowed to expense).
Impact expected: None - the council has no
material borrowing costs.

01-Jan-2009

01-Jan-2009

ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

The main amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations applicable to the council’s
financial statements, due to the introduction of the above stated amendments are as follows:

Standard Interpretation

Summary of Changes

Impact on the Council’s
Financial Report

AASB 7 - Financial Instruments:
Disclosures

Various editorial amendments.

Disclosures only

AASB 101 - Presentation of
Financial Statements

Various editorial amendments.

Disclosures only

AASB 102 - Inventories

Requires inventories held for distribution by
not-for-profit entities to be measured at cost,
adjusted when applicable for any loss of service
potential. (Previously measured at the lower of
cost and current replacement cost.)

No material impact expected on the financial report of the council as it does
not hold material amounts
of inventory for distribution.

References to “business segment and industry
or geographical segment” changed to “operating segment”.

Disclosures only

Inserting the option to use the indirect method
for presenting cash flow statements under
AASB 107 Cash Flow Statements.

No impact expected on
the financial report of the
council as it is likely to
continue with the current
presentation.

References  to “reported industry and geographical segment” and to “AASB 114 Segment Reporting” are amended to “operating
segment” and “AASB 8 Operating Segments”
respectively

Disclosures only

AASB 107 - Cash Flow
Statements
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AASB 108 - Accounting Policies, Editorial amendment in paragraph 5.
Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors

Disclosures only

AASB 110 - Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Various editorial amendments.

Disclosures only

AASB 116 - Property, Plant &
Equipment

The carrying amount of an item of PPE may be
reduced by government grants in accordance
with AASB 120. Also, other minor editorial
amendments

No financial impact - AASB
120 applies only to for-profit
entities.

AASB 117 - Leases

References to “UIG Interpretation” are
amended to “Interpretation” . Also, other minor
editorial amendments.

Disclosures only

AASB 118 - Revenue

References to “UIG Interpretation” are
amended to “Interpretation” . Also, other minor
editorial amendments.

Disclosures only

AASB 119 - Employee Benefits

Reference used to “business segment” is
amended to “operating segment”. Also, other
minor editorial amendments.

Disclosures only

AASB 132 - Financial Instruments Various editorial amendments.
Presentation

Disclosures only

AASB 136 - Impairment of Assets References to “AASB 114 Segment Reporting” are amended to “AASB 8 Operating Segments”. Also, other minor editorial
amendments.

Disclosures only

AASB 137 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets

Various editorial amendments.

Disclosures only

AASB 138 - Intangible Assets

Various editorial amendments.

Disclosures only
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Note 2 – INCOME TAX	
The Council is a not-for-profit charitable organisation and is exempt from Income tax under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. The Council is also exempt from other government levies such as payroll tax. Donations of $2 or
more made to the Council are income tax deductible to donors.

Note 3 – OTHER INCOME
			

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

- Net gains (losses) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Interest income
- Royalties, fees for service and other

4,868
129
3,050

3,778
113
4,280

TOTAL OTHER INCOME		

8,047

8,171

8,700
2,509

8,644
1,904

2,597

2,987

2,545

3,857

1,427

567

1,940

1,867

19,718

19,826

6,304

5,224

7,685

5,355

4,182

2,596

852

1,576

1,164

801

1,646
-

1,457
159

21,833

17,168

Other Income comprises:
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Note 4 – PROGRAM SERVICES	
Research
Support of basic scientific studies, clinical investigations and programs.
Victorian Cancer Registry – registers all cancer cases in Victoria and
provides statistical analysis.
Centre for Behavioural Research in Cancer - a centre for research into
behavioural aspects of cancer prevention, detection and rehabilitation.
Cancer Epidemiology Centre - a centre for research into the occurrence,
distribution and determinants of disease.
Health 2000 - a study to ascertain the effect of lifestyle factors (especially diet)
on the incidence of a range of diseases.
VicHealth Centre for Tobacco Control – a centre to investigate new ways
to reduce tobacco usage.
TOTAL RESEARCH		

Cancer Prevention and early detection
Education – programs to create awareness about prevention,
early detection and treatment.
Quit – public education program to reduce tobacco consumption
and prevent the uptake of smoking.
Aid to patients – in the form of welfare grants, cancer support groups,
Cancer Information and Support Service.
External subscriptions – relates to Victoria’s involvement in national and
international cancer programs.
SunSmart – public education program related to skin cancer
prevention and early detection.
PapScreen Victoria – the promotion of regular screening for cervical cancer.
Commercial Programs – providing sun protection aids to the general public.
TOTAL CANCER PREVENTION AND EARLY DETECTION		
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Note 5 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	
			

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

Cash on hand and at bank
Cash Managed by Investment Bank

368
4,625

294
1,005

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END		

4,993

1,299

Provision for Doubtful debts

563
173
736
-

1,744
280
2,024
-

		

736

2,024

a) Cash on hand and at bank
The cash at bank generated an average interest rate of 4.4% (2006 - 3.6%). Refer note 22.
b) Cash Managed by Investment Bank
These funds are part of the portfolio managed by the Investment Bank
(UBS Wealth Management). The average interest rate earned by these funds was
approximately 5.5% (2006 - 3.6%). Refer note 7 and 22.
c) Financing Facilities
Financing facilities available at the reporting date were $100,000 (2006 - $100,000).
Facilities in use at that date were $Nil (2006 – $Nil).

Note 6 - RECEIVABLES	
Trade receivables
Other Debtors

There is no bad debt expenditure shown in the income statement.
The carrying amount of the trade receivables at the reporting date is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Note 7 - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS	
7.1 At fair value through profit or loss
Australian Equities
Australian Bank Bills & Promissory Notes (maturity < 30 days)
Australian Fixed Interest
Other

15,715
9,960
7,313
361

13,747
7,967
6,863
112

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 		

33,349

28,689

7.2 Reconciliation of total available funds
Cash Managed by Investment Bank (refer Notes 5 and 22)
Total Other Financial Assets

4,625
33,349

1,005
28,689

TOTAL AVAILABLE FUNDS		

37,974

29,694

All investments are managed by UBS Wealth Management.
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Note 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT	
			

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

- at cost
- at valuation (2006)

9,200

9,200

TOTAL LAND		

9,200

9,200

- at cost
- at valuation (2006)
- accumulated depreciation

375
8,500
(714)

8,500
-

TOTAL BUILDINGS & IMPROVEMENTS

8,161

8,500

2,816
(2,296)

2,653
(2,077)

520

576

709
(410)

493
(356)

299

137

53
(36)

411
(28)

TOTAL RESEARCH EQUIPMENT AND OTHER:		

17

383

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT		

18,197

18,796

Land:

Buildings & Improvements:
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Computer and Office Equipment:
- at cost
- accumulated depreciation
TOTAL COMPUTER AND OFFICE EQUIPMENT		

Furniture & Fittings and Telephone Equipment:
- at cost
- accumulated depreciation
TOTAL FURNITURE & FITTINGS AND TELEPHONE EQUIPMENT		

Research Equipment and other:
- at cost
- accumulated depreciation

8.1 The basis of valuation for land and buildings is fair market value.
An independent valuation of land and buildings at Rathdowne, Victoria and Drummond Street was undertaken in October
2006 (Previous - February 2004). The carrying amounts for the land and buildings have been determined in accordance
with this independent valuation. The valuation estimated a market value of $9.0M (2005 - 7.65M) for the land and
buildings at Rathdowne and Victoria Streets and $8.7M (2005 - 7.3M) for Drummond Street.
The valuer was Fitzroys Pty Ltd (ACN 078 941 107), Licensed Estate Agents, Level 29, 367 Collins Street, Melbourne,
Victoria, 3000.
The valuation of market value of the properties was based on the judgment, interpretation and detailed analysis of the
relevant sales evidence done by the valuers and was assessed using the capitalisation of income and the direct comparison approach methods of valuation. The valuation was made on the basis of the properties’ highest and best use which
has regard to their locations, physical, economic and legal attributes.
An independent valuation is obtained every three years. Additionally, during the three year period the impact of
property growth is assessed. The assessment for 2007 is that the current valuation represents the fair value of land and
buildings.
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8.2 Movements in property, plant and equipment for the year
			

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

Carrying amount at 1 January
Revaluation increments/(decrements)

9,200
-

7,500
1,700

CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER		

9,200

9,200

Buildings & Freehold improvements
Carrying amount at 1 January
Additions and transfers
Revaluation increments/(decrements)
Depreciation
Disposals

8,500
375
(714)
-

6,277
102
2,835
(714)
-

CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER		

8,161

8,500

576
281
(337)
-

569
372
(358)
(7)

520

576

Land

Computer and Office equipment:
Carrying amount at 1 January
Additions and transfers
Depreciation
Disposals
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER		

Furniture & fittings and Telephone equipment:
Carrying amount at 1 January
Additions and transfers
Depreciation
Disposals

137
217
(55)
-

173
155
(61)
(130)

CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER		

299

137

383
(8)
(358)

55
436
(101)
(7)

17

383

Carrying amount at 1 January
Additions
Revaluation increments/(decrements)
Depreciation
Disposals and transfers

18,796
608
(1,114)
(93)

14,574
1,065
4,535
(1,235)
(143)

CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER		

18,197

18,796

Total depreciation expense of property, plant and equipment charged 		
in the income statement.
1,114

1,235

Research Equipment and other:
Carrying amount at 1 January
Additions
Depreciation
Disposals and transfers
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER		

Total Property, Plant and Equipment
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Note 9 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS	
			

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

Computer Software
Less: Accumulated Amortisation

1,707
(1,211)

1,602
(941)

496

661

661
105
(270)
-

905
82
(207)
(119)

CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER		

496

661

- Total amortisation expense of intangible assets charged in the income statement.

270

207

Victorian Breast Cancer Research Consortium Inc.

885

1,238

		

885

1,238

11.1 Current:
Annual Leave
Long-Service Leave
CURRENT EMPLOYEE BENEFITS		

1,502
1,650
3,152

1,567
1,576
3,143

11.2 Non-current:
Long-Service Leave
NON-CURRENT EMPLOYEE BENEFITS		

239
239

286
286

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS		

3,391

3,429

1,502
168
1,670

1,567
91
1,658

1,482
1,482

1,485
1,485

3,152

3,143

		

Movement
Carrying amount at 1 January
Additions and transfers
Amortisation
Disposals
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Note 10 – ADMINISTERED PROGRAM
FUNDING
Note 11 – EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

11.3 Expected commitments for employee benefits:
Short term:
Annual Leave – short term that falls due within 12 months after end of the period.
Long-Service Leave – short term that falls due within 12 months after end of the period.
Long term:
Long-Service Leave – long term that does not fall due within 12 months after end of the period.
Current Employee Benefits		
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11.4 Additional information:
The number of employees at 31 December 2007 was 312 (2006 - 298). The number of employees provided is based on
payroll data at the end of the reporting period and is adjusted to reflect the Full Time Equivalent of all part-time staff.
The total employee benefits expense during the year ended 31 December 2007 was $19,315,058 (2006 - $18,399,389).
This expense relates to the 312 Full Time staff and Full Time Equivalent of part time staff, together with casual employees.

Note 12 – EQUITY & MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY
			

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

12.1 Composition of Reserves
Special Funds (refer 12.1.a below)
Victorian Cancer Control Research Institute Fund (refer 12.1.b below)
External Grants Reserve (refer 12.1.c below)
Asset Revaluation Reserve (refer 12.1.d below)

3,229
1,529
12,016
11,038

3,219
1,529
10,256
11,038

		

27,812

26,042

a) Special Funds
Balance at 1 January
Additional funds received
Transfers out of special funds

3,219
38
(28)

3,219
-

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER		

3,229

3,219

Special funds are donations or bequests received with a condition that the funds be invested and only the incomes used
for a specific purpose.
Some funds are required to be invested for finite periods of time after which the capital may be spent by the organization to fund Cancer Council programs.
Other funds are required to be invested in perpetuity.

b) Victorian Cancer Control Research Institute Fund
Balance at 1 January
Net Movement

1,529
-

1,529
-

Balance at 31 December		

1,529

1,529

In April 1997, the Anti-Cancer Council launched a one-off building appeal to fund the purchase of a new building
to house its research teams.

c) External Grants Reserve
Balance at 1 January
Net Movement

10,256
1,759

8,757
1,499

Balance at 31 December		

12,016

10,256

The Anti-Cancer Council has a number of incomplete projects at balance date that have been funded by way of competitively won or specifically nominated grants. As these funds relate to specific projects we believe it is appropriate to
allocate these funds into a separate reserve.
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2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

d) Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at 1 January
Revaluation of Land
Revaluation of Buildings

11,038
-

6,503
1,700
2,835

Balance at 31 December		

11,038

11,038

7,349
3,689

7,349
3,689

11,038

11,038

Total Revaluation Reserve of Land
Total Revaluation Reserve of Buildings
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12.2 Accumulated surplus
Balance at 1 January
Net operating result for the year
Transfers (to) / from:
- Special Funds
- External Grants Reserve

9,702
5,534

10,229
972

(1,759)

(1,499)

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER		

13,477

9,702

Note 13 – SEGMENT REPORTING
The Anti-Cancer Council is a public institution created by an Act of Parliament.
It operates as a volunteer based charity to lead, coordinate, implement and evaluate action to minimise the human
cost of cancer for all Victorians.
All activities undertaken to derive revenue are attributed the same purpose, which is to minimise cancer for Victorians.

Note 14 – CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Reconciliation of operating result to net cash provided by operating activities
Net operating result for the year
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Unrealised investment income
Write off of Fixed assets
Write off of Computer Software

5,534
1,384
(3,299)
30
-

972
1,443
(1,976)
143
119

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments
(Increase)/Decrease in Intangibles assets
(Decrease)/Increase in employee benefits
(Decrease)/Increase in current liabilities
(Decrease)/Increase in provision for research grants

1,288
65
18
(44)
(38)
487
225

(196)
60
(7)
(82)
3
633
2,996

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES		

5,651

4,108
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Note 15 – RESPONSIBLE PERSONS	
In accordance with the Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made for the Responsible Ministers and the Accountable Officer.

15.1 Names
Persons who held the above positions in relation to the Anti-Cancer Council of Victoria at any time during the reporting
period are:

Responsible Minister:
The Hon B PIKE (Minister for Health) (until 30 July 2007)
The Hon D ANDREWS (Minister for Health) (from 30 July 2007)

Accountable Officer:
Prof D HILL AM (Director)
The Anti-Cancer Council of Victoria is governed by a Council established in accordance with the provisions of the Cancer
Act 1958. The members of the Council during 2007 were:
Mr R R ALLEN
The Hon D ANDREWS (from Jul 07)
Assoc Prof D ASHLEY
Mr C A BENNETT
Prof H G BURGER (until Jul 07)
Ms J CAIRNS
Dr P CAMPBELL
Prof J CEBON
Mr J M CLARKE
Profr S CORY AC
Dr M DALLY
Prof G DAVIS AC
Mr M EASTMAN
Ms P FAULKNER (until Mar 07)
Prof R M FOX

Prof P J FULLER
Assoc Prof M T GILLESPIE
Mr P J GRIFFIN
Dr M C HAIKERWAL
Prof M HAMILTON AO
Dr C D HOGAN
Mr P INGHAM
Assoc Prof T W JOBLING
Prof P JOHNSON (from Aug 07)
Mr P KITCHEN
Mrs Y KLEMPFNER AO
Professor R LARKINS AO
Ms T LAWLER
Assoc Prof B E LOVELAND
Prof F MENDELSOHN AO

Dr P MITCHELL
Mr S MURDOCH
The Hon B PIKE (until Jul 07)
Mr T PROBERT
Professor M QUINN
Dr M R REDPATH AO
Assoc Prof A ROBERTS (from Feb 07)
Prof E SIMPSON
Mr J SO
Prof R THOMAS
Ms F THORN (from Mar 07)
Prof S WALKER
Ms A WILLIAMS
Dr A S ZIMET

Subject to the general control of the Council, the Executive Committee may determine the measures to be taken to carry
out the objectives of the organisation. The members of the Executive Committee during 2007 were:
Dr M J DALLY
Ms S DIMASI
Prof P J FULLER
Mr P J GRIFFIN
Dr S A HART
Prof M HAMILTON AO (Chair)
Mr P INGHAM

Ms A MACPHEE
Ms L MILNE-ROCH
Mr A MURDOCH
Mr M O’BRYAN
Dr A ROBERTS
Prof J TRAPANI (from Jun 07)
Ms A WATERS

Subject to the general control of the Anti-Cancer Council, the Finance Committee manages the property, investments
and funds of the organisation with responsibility to report to the Executive Committee on matters considered by it. The
Finance Committee also advises the Executive Committee on all relevant matters pertaining to the administration and
management of the property, investment and funds of the Anti-Cancer Council.
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The members of the Finance Committee during 2007 were:
Mr P R FUHRMANN
Mr P J GRIFFIN
Prof M HAMILTON AO
Mr P INGHAM (Chair)

Ms S MILES
Ms M PERIL
Ms A WATERS

15.2 Remuneration
The Responsible Minister does not receive any remuneration from the Anti-Cancer Council of Victoria. Amounts relating
to Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.
All members of the Council and the Executive Committee volunteer their services to the Anti-Cancer Council of Victoria
and receive no remuneration. Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Responsible persons from the AntiCancer Council in connection with the management of the Anti-Cancer Council amounted to $323,941
(2006- $267,400). Note that the amount remunerated for 2007 includes amounts which relate to 2006 and 2005.
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15.3 Retirement benefits of responsible persons
Retirement benefits paid by the Anti-Cancer Council in connection with the retirement of responsible persons amounted
to Nil (2006: Nil).
15.4 Other Related Party Transactions
The Council received grants and fees for service from organisations with which certain Committee members are associated. The council also made payments to organisations with which certain committee members are associated. All such
transactions were at arms length from the relevant members and were made in accordance with the Council’s normal
policies and procedures.
			

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

Amounts received from
The Cancer Council Australia
VicHealth
Victorian Breast Cancer Research
Consortium Inc. (VBCRC)

Member
Nature of relationship		
Prof D Hill AM, Dr S Hart
Directors
1,394
Director
4,648
Prof D Hill AM
Ms S Dimasi, Mr P Griffin,
Directors
Prof M Hamilton AO, Dr S Hart,
132
Ms A Macphee, Prof D Hill AM		

		

629
5,662

114

6,174

6,291

1,668
54
109

647
86

237

271

1,905

733

Amounts payable to
VBCRC - Administered Program Funding		

885

1,238

		

885

1,238

Amounts paid to
The Cancer Council Australia
VicHealth
Murdoch Childrens Research Institute
Victorian Breast Cancer Research
Consortium Inc. (VBCRC)

Directors
Prof D Hill AM, Dr S Hart
Director
Prof D Hill AM
Mr P Griffin
Director
Ms S Dimasi, Mr P Griffin,
Directors
Prof M Hamilton AO, Dr S Hart,
Ms A Macphee, Prof D Hill AM		
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Note 16 – EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION	
It is the policy of the Anti-Cancer Council of Victoria that the operations of the organisation be performed at an
internationally competitive level. An independent sub-committee of the Executive Committee sets Senior Executive
salaries at levels that the committee believes are sufficient to attract and retain executives who perform at the required
level.
The numbers of executive officers, other than Ministers and accountable officers, and their total remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the first two columns in the table below in their relevant income bands. The base
remuneration of executive officers is shown in the third and fourth columns. Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus
payments, long-service leave payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits.
Several factors have affected total remuneration payable to executives over the year. A number of executives received
bonus payments during the year.

Total Remuneration

Base Remuneration

2007
No.

2006
No.

2007
No.

2006
No.

$100,000 - 109,999

1

1

0

1

$110,000 - 119,999

1

2

2

2

$120,000 - 129,999

1

0

0

0

$130,000 - 139,999

0

0

0

0

$140,000 - 149,999

0

3

2

3

$150,000 - 159,999

1

1

0

1

$160,000 - 169,999

1

0

1

0

$170,000 - 179,999

1

1

1

1

$180,000 - 189,000

1

1

1

1

$190,000 - 199,999

0

0

0

0

$200,000 - 209,999

1

0

0

0

Total numbers

8

9

7

9

Total remuneration

$1,226,457

$1,291,905

$1,135,077

$1,283,405

The total income received or due and receivable from the Anti-Cancer Council by executive officers listed in note 15(1)
whose income exceeded $100,000 was $1,226,457 (2006: $1,291,905). This does not include the amounts listed under
Note 15(2).
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Note 17 – COMMITMENTS	
17.1 Operating lease commitments
				

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

Future operating lease rentals not provided for in the financial statements and payable:
- one year or less		
- one to five years		

98
152

62
31

		

250

93

17.2 Capital Commitments
There were no capital commitments at the reporting date.
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Note 18 – AUDIT FEES - AUDITOR GENERAL
The office of the Auditor-General of Victoria audits the Financial Statements
of the Anti-Cancer Council of Victoria.
Audit fees 		

27

20

Note 19 – SUPERANNUATION	
The Anti-Cancer Council contributes to superannuation funds nominated by employees in accordance with the Choice
of Super Legislation.
The statutory amount of 9% is contributed for all eligible employees.
The total contributions paid to the Funds by the Anti-Cancer Council of Victoria was $1,597,156 (2006 - $1,603,380).
All employees are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death in accordance with the appropriate legislation
and the terms of the Trust Deed of the funds. All the funds are accumulation funds.
As at the reporting date there were $354,812 (2006 - $247,022) outstanding contributions payable to the superannuation funds, which is included in payables in the balance sheet.

ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

Note 20 – CREDIT RISK ON FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
			

2007

2006

		

$’000s

$’000s

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other
security to recognised financial assets is:		

736

2,024

This maximum credit risk exposure has been measured as the carrying amount, net
of any provisions for doubtful debts or any impairment loss recognised, as disclosed in
the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.
The Anti-Cancer Council does not have any material credit risk exposure to a single
debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments entered into by us.
No collateral is held as security of the amount presented above.
The objective of managing credit risk is to minimise the possibility of doubtful debts
and debtors defaulting on payment.

Policy in managing the concentrations of credit risk:
The Council minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade accounts
receivable by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers. In addition,
the majority of retail sales are in cash, therefore there is no credit risk in these transactions.
The major customers relate to government departments.
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Credit risk in trade receivables is managed in the following ways:
- payment terms are 30 days from date of invoice for other debtors.
- debtors which represent government departments or agencies are managed by
the council directly with department or agency contacts.

Policy in managing the borrower failing to meet obligations:
The Council manages this risk with respect to trade receivables by assessment of
Credit Application forms with trade references required to be submitted by new debtors,
where the credit is expected to exceed $1,000. Government bodies, Public statutory bodies
and other Cancer Councils are exempt from this requirement.

Credit quantitative and qualitative information:
- Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired - 78% (2007):		
- Financial assets that are past due as at the reporting date but not impaired - 22% (2007):
- Financial assets determined to be impaired as at the reporting date		

575
161
-

1185
839
-

		

736

2,024

The Council believes that at 31 December 2007, there are no collection problems for both the financial assets which are
past due but not impaired and those which are not past due.
There were no amounts renegotiated that would otherwise be past due or impaired under their original terms at 31
December 2007 and 31 December 2006.
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Note 21 – LIQUIDITY RISK ON FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
The Management of the Council has assessed the liquidity risk as the difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities; and assessed the exposure of the Council to this risk as immaterial considering the high volume of
current assets compared with current liabilities.
The table below shows the working capital position at the reporting dates:
			
2007
2006
		

$’000s

$’000s

Total Current Assets		
Total Current Liabilities		
Net positive Working Capital		

39,425
(11,913)
27,512

32,442
(10,645)
21,797

3.31

3.05

Positive Current Ratio
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The objective of managing liquidity risk is to ensure that all payments will be made as they fall due, while ensuring maximum funds are available for investment.

Policy in managing the liquidity risk:
The Council manages liquidity risk by monitoring cash flows to ensure sufficient funds are maintained in the transactional
bank account to meet liabilities as they fall due. This is done while ensuring that surplus funds are transferred for investment. Daily monitoring occurs, with reports delivered periodically to the Finance Committee regarding the cash flow
position and cash flow forecasts.
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Note 22 - MARKET RISK ON FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS	
22.1 Interest Risk on Financial Instruments
The Cancer Council has determined their exposure to interest rate risk, as the possibility that the fair value or future cash
flows of their financial instruments could fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates.
The following table quantifies the Cancer Council’s exposure to interest rate risk at the reporting date:

Financial Assets
Notes

Weighted average

Floating

Non-interest Fixed interest within

effective interest rate interest rate

(%)
		

($’000s)

2007

2006

bearing

1 year

($’000s)

($’000s)

Total

($’000s)

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

2006

Cash on Hand and at Bank

5

4.4

3.6

368

294

-

-

-

-

368

294

Cash Managed by
Investment Bank

5

5.5

4.7

4,625

1,005

-

-

-

-

4,625

1,005

Australian Equities

7

-

-

-

-

15,715

13,747

-

- 15,715

13,747

Australian Fixed Interest
and bank bills

7

7.0

6.0

-

-

- 17,273 14,942 17,273

14,942

361

361

-

736

2,024

Other
Receivables

6

-

-

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS				

4,993

736

1,299 16,812

2,024

-

-

15,771 17,273 14,942 39,078 32,012

Financial Liabilities
Weighted average

Floating

Non-interest Fixed interest within

effective interest rate interest rate
(%)
		

($’000s)

2006

-

1 year

($’000s)

($’000s)

2007

2006

2007

2006

-

-

-

2,803

1,963

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES			

-

-

2,803

1,963

Payables

2007

bearing

2007

-

Total

($’000s)

2006

-

2007

2006

2,803

1,963

2,803

1,963

The objective of managing interest risk is to minimise and control the risks of losses due to interest rate changes and to
take advantage of potential profits.
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Policy in managing the interest risk:
Interest risk is managed by monitoring the outlook for interest rates and holding cash in various bank bills and a number
of banking institutions.

Sensitivity analysis on interest risk:
Interest Rate Exposure

Rates move by:
Annual
Current

annual report
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return at

1%

2%

3%

Possible effect/ Possible effect/ Possible effect/

rate

Amount

current rate

Profit or loss

Profit or loss

Profit or loss

%

$’000s

$’000s

$’000s

$’000s

$’000s

Bank Bills

7.10%

$9,960

707

+/- 100

+/- 199

+/- 299

UBS CMT

5.95%

$4,625

275

+/-   46

+/-   93

+/- 139

+/-		146

+/-		292

+/-		438

Possible effect (movement in interest income) in profit or loss:		

This sensitivity analysis has been prepared for the next 12 months. The Council’s Management does not believe that it is
possible to reasonably estimate the variables used (interest rates) further than for 12 months.

22.2 Equity Market Risk
The objective of managing equity market risk is to minimise negative impacts on investment value due to the volatility of
the stock market.

Policy in managing the equity market risk:
The Council appoints an external, independent investment manager to monitor the volatility of stock market investments
in light of performance benchmarks. The investment manager is expected to manage this risk, through the appropriate
diversification of specific stocks and diversification through different asset classes as per the mandated allocations. All
investments are subject to satisfactory ethical screening.
The investment manager is expected to undertake extensive analysis of the variables that may influence market prices.
Stock specific risks are expected to be reduced by the analysis performed by the investment manager.
Investment performance reports are presented to the Finance committee on a monthly basis.

ANTI-CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA
(OPERATING AS THE CANCER COUNCIL VICTORIA)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

Sensitivity analysis on equity market risk:
Market Movement Exposure

$’000s
15,715

Market Value of Equities at 31/12/07

Impact on net gain/(loss) on financial assets at Fair Value
through Income Statement

Equities market

Movement
+/-

Possible movement in income & movement in value of equities:

+/-

786

5%

Possible movement in income & movement in value of equities:

+/-

1,572

10%

Possible movement in income & movement in value of equities:

+/-

2,357

15%

The above sensitivity ranges are based on consideration of historical Australian share market movements.

22.3 Currency risk
The Council’s Management have assessed this risk as immaterial. A small dollar value of short term trading is conducted in foreign currency. The council has no direct investment exposure to currency risk.

Note 23 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Since the end of the 2007 financial year the Australian share market has fallen significantly. This has caused a 10.6%
devaluation of the Council’s equity portfolio resulting in an unrealised loss of $1,957,401 as at 31 January 2008.
There are no other material subsequent events.
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Declaration by chair of executive
committee director and finance
manager
We certify that the attached financial statements for the Anti-Cancer Council have been prepared in accordance with
Standing Direction 4.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions issued under
that legislation, Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.
We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the income statement, balance sheet, statement of
changes in equity, cash flow statement and notes to and forming part of the financial report, presents fairly the financial
transactions during the year ended 31 December 2007 and financial position of the Council as at 31 December 2007.
We are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to be
misleading or inaccurate.
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Council Member
(Chair of Executive Committee)
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Chief Finance & Accounting Officer

28 February 2008
Melbourne
Place

